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5 June 2023 

Dear Judge Morgan: 

This report focuses on the New Orleans Police Department’s investigation into 
allegations against Officer Jeffrey Vappie. As you know, in early November 2022, local New 
Orleans TV station Fox8 ran a series of stories involving Mayor Latoya Cantrell’s executive 
protection team. The story raised a number of questions regarding the operation of that team as 
well as the actions and inactions of Officer Vappie. PIB opened an investigation into the 
allegations raised in the story on November 9, 2022. 

Following PIB’s investigation, the Monitoring Team, per Consent Decree paragraph 454, 
submitted a detailed analysis to PIB commending the investigators for the quality of their 
underlying investigation, but pointing out a number of critical shortcomings in the investigation 
analysis and report. The NOPD’s response to the Monitoring Team’s analysis raises serious 
concerns that we believe require the Court’s immediate attention. 

Background 
As noted above, following the early November 2022 Fox8 stories involving Mayor 

Latoya Cantrell’s executive protection team, PIB opened an investigation on November 9, 2022 
into multiple allegations against Officer Jeffrey Vappie. Immediately thereafter, on November 
10, 2022, the New Orleans City Council requested that the Office of the Consent Decree Monitor 
and the Office of the Independent Monitor conduct their own independent investigations into the 
Vappie allegations, citing “significant concerns about the apparent conflict of interest with the 
New Orleans Police Department being allowed to, again, investigate serious allegations 
involving Mayor Cantrell.”1 The Monitoring Team responded to the City Council on November 
11 explaining that it lacked the authority to conduct an investigation, but that it would monitor 
PIB’s investigation of Officer Vappie closely to ensure it was effective, efficient, and without 
bias.2  

Consistent with its response to the City Council and its obligations under the Consent 
Decree to closely monitor significant misconduct investigations,3 the Monitoring Team met with 
Deputy Chief Keith Sanchez and PIB’s investigators Captain Kendrick Allen and Lieutenant 
Lawrence Jones on an almost weekly basis over the course of PIB’s investigation. While we 
were not involved in the day‐to‐day affairs of the investigation (the Consent Decree makes clear 
the Monitoring Team has no role in running the NOPD4), the PIB team was open with us 
regarding their strategy and the status of their activities. We appreciate the cooperation we 
received from PIB prior to the preparation of the PIB investigation report. 

 
1  The City Council letter is attached to this Report as Attachment A. 

2  The Monitoring Team’s response to City Council is attached to this Report as Attachment B. 

3  See, e.g., Consent Decree paragraphs 377, 444, 454, 455. 

4  Consent Decree paragraph 445. 
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On February 17, 2023, prior to the conclusion of PIB’s investigation, the Monitoring 
Team sent an “immediate action notice” to Deputy Chief Sanchez alerting him to several issues 
we believed the NOPD should address right away.5 Rather than waiting until the conclusion of 
PIB’s investigation, we brought these matters to PIB’s attention at that time to ensure NOPD 
would take immediate steps to correct the concerns we identified. Our opinions and 
recommendations related only to larger policy/process issues that were unrelated to the then-still- 
forthcoming substantive findings of the PIB Vappie investigation team. 

PIB completed its investigation into the actions/inactions of Officer Vappie on March 10, 
2023, and submitted the final investigation report to Deputy Chief Sanchez the same day. Deputy 
Chief Sanchez reviewed and concurred with the investigators’ findings on March 16, 2023.  
Despite multiple requests from the Monitoring Team and the IPM for a copy of PIB’s 
investigative report, NOPD refused to share it with the Monitoring Team until April 3, 2023. 

Per Consent Decree paragraph 454, and the specific request of the New Orleans City 
Council, we analyzed PIB’s investigative report and prepared a series of recommendations, 
which we shared with Interim Superintendent Woodfork on April 7, 2023. Per Consent Decree 
paragraph 454, the Interim Superintendent was required either to accept our recommendations or 
to prepare a written response as to why she did not accept our recommendations. 

Because the Monitoring Team had not heard back from the Interim Superintendent by 
April 13, we wrote to her again asking about the status of NOPD’s response. Deputy Chief 
Sanchez responded that we would receive a formal response by April 18. 

On April 18, NOPD requested additional time to respond due to the death of an officer. 
The Monitoring Team, of course, acceded to the request. NOPD committed to respond by April 
20. 

The Monitoring Team didn’t receive a response from NOPD on the 20th, 21st, 22nd, or 
23rd. The NOPD finally responded to our analysis on April 24. The response, however, was 
wholly inadequate in that it (a) ignored the requirements of Consent Decree paragraph 454, 
(b) mischaracterized the scope of the investigation regarding payroll fraud, and (c) ignored 
almost all of the Monitoring Team’s substantive recommendations. We have attached the 
Monitoring Team’s analysis and NOPD’s response to this report as Attachments E and F. 

As noted above, the City’s actions here raise serious concerns that we believe require the 
Court’s immediate attention. 

Summary Of Concerns 
The following paragraphs summarize the Monitoring Team’s concerns regarding the 

NOPD’s response to our analysis of the PIB investigation into the actions and inactions of 
Officer Jeffrey Vappie. 

 
5  The Monitoring Team’s recommendations are attached to this Report as Attachment C. 
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1. The City Is In Violation Of Consent Decree Paragraph 454 

Paragraph 454 of the Consent Decree provides as follows: 

City and NOPD shall provide each investigation of a serious use of force or use of 
force that is the subject of a misconduct investigation, and each investigation 
report of a serious misconduct complaint investigation (i.e., criminal misconduct; 
unreasonable use of force; discriminatory policing; false arrest or planting 
evidence; untruthfulness/false statements; unlawful search; retaliation; sexual 
misconduct; domestic violence; and theft), to the Monitor before closing the 
investigation or communicating the recommended disposition to the subject of the 
investigation or review. The Monitor shall review each serious use of force 
investigation and each serious misconduct complaint investigation and 
recommend for further investigation any use of force or misconduct complaint 
investigations that the Monitor determines to be incomplete or for which the 
findings are not supported by a preponderance of the evidence. The Monitor shall 
provide written instructions for completing any investigation determined to be 
incomplete or inadequately supported by the evidence. The Superintendent shall 
determine whether the additional investigation or modification recommended by 
the Monitor should be carried out. Where the Superintendent determines not to 
order the recommended additional investigation or modification, the 
Superintendent will set out the reasons for this determination in writing. The 
Monitor shall provide recommendations so that any further investigation or 
modification can be concluded within the timeframes mandated by state law. The 
Monitor shall coordinate with the IPM in conducting these use of force and 
misconduct investigation reviews. 

Consent Decree paragraph 454 (emphasis added). Pursuant to its authority under the Consent 
Decree, including this paragraph, the Monitoring Team requested access to the PIB investigation 
report on multiple occasions during weekly status calls with the PIB and the IPM. The IPM made 
similar requests during these weekly calls. PIB responded it would not share a copy of the 
investigation report. 

After multiple requests and a suggestion by the Monitoring Team that the matter be taken 
to Judge Morgan for resolution, PIB ultimately did turn over its investigation report on April 3, 
2023. Such a late production, however, conflicts with paragraph 454 of the Consent Decree, and, 
more importantly, prejudices the ability of PIB to remedy material errors in its investigative 
report in a timely fashion. Nonetheless, as noted above, the Monitoring Team performed and 
shared its detailed analysis of the PIB report with NOPD on April 7, 2023. 

In its April 24th response to the Monitoring Team’s analysis of the PIB investigation, the 
NOPD failed to provide a substantive response to the Monitoring Team’s recommendations, 
arguing it had no legal obligation to do so. According to NOPD, paragraph 454 of the Consent 
Decree does not apply here because, in NOPD’s view, PIB’s investigation into the 
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actions/inactions of Officer Vappie was not a “serious misconduct complaint investigation.” 
NOPD Response at 2. NOPD’s view not only is wrong, it reflects a cavalier attitude toward 
PIB’s obligations and the importance of officer accountability. 

The facts tell a far different story from the one PIB now is sharing regarding the nature of 
the Vappie investigation. 

From the very first weekly meeting with PIB, the Monitoring Team and the IPM stressed 
the importance of the scope of the Vappie investigation. The Monitoring Team and IPM 
emphasized that it was critical that PIB investigate all allegations, including the 16.58 hour 
violation allegation, the professionalism violation allegation, the conflict of interest violation 
allegation, the nepotism violation allegation, and, importantly, the payroll fraud allegation. This 
issue was discussed on multiple zoom meetings with PIB, and in each meeting PIB assured the 
Monitoring Team and the IPM that its investigation would cover all of these allegations.6 

Following several status meetings, PIB shared its draft investigation plan with the 
Monitoring Team and the IPM on December 5, 2022. In its draft plan, PIB wrote that it was 
investigating Officer Vappie for 

16.35, devoting entire time to duty, ethics, moral conduct, nepotism and employee 
conflicts. 

Email from Captain Kendrick Allen (12/5/22). The Monitoring Team responded to Captain Allen 
noting that the investigation plan was missing the payroll fraud allegation, an issue, as noted, 
discussed in multiple prior status meetings. The Monitoring Team recommended updating the 
investigation plan to more explicitly reflect what PIB confirmed orally, i.e., that PIB’s 
investigation would cover 

Potential policy violations, working hours beyond mandatory ceilings (e.g., the 
16.35 hour rule) (Chapter 13.15), devoting entire time to duty (Chapter 26.2.1), 
billing for time not worked (Chapter ??), ethics, professional conduct (Rule 3), 
moral conduct (Rule 2), nepotism and employee conflicts (Chapter 13.38). 

Email from Jonathan Aronie to Captain Kendrick Allen (12/5/22) (emphasis added). 

In the same email, the Monitoring Team specifically requested PIB be more specific that 
it was investigating the payroll fraud issue (i.e., charging for time not worked). Id. PIB assured 
the Monitoring Team and IPM in the next weekly zoom status meeting that it would be fully 
investigating the payroll fraud allegation against Officer Vappie. 

 
6  It is worth noting here that paragraph 399 of the Consent Decree requires NOPD to employ a classification 
protocol for all complaints that is “allegation-based rather than anticipated outcome-based.” If, in light of the scope 
of the allegations against Officer Vappie and the representations made to the Monitoring Team and the IPM 
regarding the scope of the investigation, NOPD failed to classify the investigation as involving “serious 
misconduct,” the Department likely violated paragraph 399 as well. 
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On December 8, the Monitoring Team shared with NOPD an email from community 
member Dr. Skip Gallagher to Judge Morgan. Email from Anne Perry to Keith Sanchez 
(12/8/23). Dr. Gallagher has been instrumental in raising a number of issues regarding NOPD 
payroll fraud with the NOPD, the IPM, the OIG, and the Monitoring Team. In his note to Judge 
Morgan, Dr. Gallagher reiterated his prior concerns about the pervasiveness of NOPD payroll 
fraud. Email from Skip Gallagher to Judge Morgan (11/14/22). Among other things, Dr.  
Gallagher emphasized the following: 

As can be seen in recent Lee Zurik pieces, payroll fraud is alive and well and 
extends into the upper ranks of the NOPD as well as the Mayor’s own security 
detail. As I have mentioned to the OIG, the IPM, the Mayor, the City Council, 
Jonathan Aronie and to the NOPD itself, an independent audit of the NOPD must 
be conducted. The response to this request has been deafening in its silence. The 
result is that I am the only person examining these payroll fraud allegations and 
must initiate each investigation through a direct request or by providing the press 
with the relevant records. 

Id. In sharing Dr. Gallagher’s concerns with PIB, the Monitoring Team noted that Dr. 
Gallagher’s findings “may be helpful re the ongoing Vappie investigation. Some also might go 
beyond Vappie. The material that goes beyond Vappie I assume you will treat as a new public 
complaint/allegation.” Email from Jonathan Aronie to Deputy Chief Keith Sanchez (12/8/22).7  

On January 5, 2023, the Monitoring Team again reminded PIB of its multiple 
commitments to investigate all aspects of the allegations against Officer Vappie, including the 
payroll fraud allegation. In an email from the Monitoring Team to PIB, the Monitoring Team 
wrote the following: 

Thank you for making time for the rescheduled tag-up call this Friday. To help 
you prepare for the call, here are the issues I’d like to make sure we discussion 
[sic]. Other members of the OCDM and IPM teams may have more, and are 
welcome to share them as well. 
* * * 
-PIB’s current thinking re: 

-Potential time card fraud (FQ Apartment, Hano Board, Travel) 

 
7  It is not clear at this time whether PIB opened the additional investigations recommended by the 
Monitoring Team. Similarly, it also is not clear at this time whether PIB opened an investigation into allegations 
raised by Fox8 that Officer Vappie flew first class and stayed in upgraded hotel suites while traveling on City 
business. The Monitoring Team recommended PIB question Officer Vappie regarding his travel in an email dated 
December 28, 2022. Specifically, the Monitoring Team recommended including the following question: “How did 
you travel when you traveled with the Mayor? First class? Upgraded hotel rooms?” Email from Jonathan Aronie to 
Captain Allen, Deputy Chief Sanchez, et al. (12/28/22). Per Consent Decree paragraph 390, which requires NOPD 
to “accept all misconduct complaints, including anonymous and third-party complaints, for review and 
investigation,” the Monitoring Team is requesting data from NOPD to determine whether PIB opened investigations 
into these matters, and, if not, why not. 
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-Potential personal relationship conflict 
-Potential other conflict (e.g., significant increase in overtime following 
start of relationship) 
-Potential violation of travel rules (upgraded hotels, etc.) 
-Potential 16.35 violations 
-Potential professionalism violations 

* * * 

Email from Jonathan Aronie to Deputy Chief Sanchez (1/5/23) (emphasis added). Each 
allegation under investigation was discussed on the ensuing phone call, and PIB reconfirmed, 
once again, it was investigating every issue, including potential payroll fraud. 

In short, it was clear from the beginning of the PIB investigation that a fundamental issue 
under investigation was whether Officer Vappie committed payroll fraud – that is, whether he 
lied about his time at work and whether he wrongly charged the City for time not worked. PIB 
agreed with this understanding of scope from the very beginning of the investigation. 

At its core, an investigation into payroll fraud is an investigation into a “serious 
misconduct complaint,” which the Consent Decree defines to include an “untruthfulness/false 
statements” or a “theft” investigation. (CD at 454) Billing the City for time not worked is 
inherently a false statement; indeed, if done knowingly, it is likely a criminal false statement. 
NOPD’s position that such an investigation does not constitute a serious misconduct complaint 
investigation is simply wrong and, quite frankly, defies common sense.8  

The fact that PIB declined to include a meaningful discussion of the payroll fraud matter 
in its investigation report (despite (a) its multiple commitments to the Monitoring Team and the 
IPM that its investigation would fully cover the alleged payroll fraud issues and (b) the 
investigators clearly questioning Vappie and other witnesses during hours of testimony about the 
payroll fraud allegation9), does not change the fact that the investigation was undertaken to 
investigate payroll fraud. It is wholly disingenuous to argue PIB’s investigation wasn’t “serious” 
simply because PIB failed to discuss in its final report a critical issue it committed to fully 
investigate.10  

 
8  Under Louisiana law, public payroll fraud under La. R.S. 14:138 is considered a type of theft. See, e.g., 
State v. Fruge, 251 La. 283 (1967). 

9  The recordings of the PIB witness interviews, subsequently made available to the media through an 
inadvertent City disclosure, make clear PIB questioned Officer Vappie and other witnesses about the payroll fraud 
matter and about the truthfulness of Officer Vappie’s various assertions. 

10  It is worth also remembering that PIB decided to conduct the Vappie investigation on its own rather than 
referring it out to a different bureau, something it would have done had the matter been non-serious. Paragraph 63 of 
NOPD Policy 52.1.1 provides that “the investigation of an alleged administrative violation involving serious 
misconduct shall be completed by PIB…,” and that “the investigation of other alleged administrative violations may 
be assigned by the PIB Deputy Superintendent or his/her designee to another bureau…” 
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Because the Vappie investigation clearly does constitute a serious misconduct complaint 
investigation in that it clearly involves allegations of truthfulness, false statements, and theft, 
NOPD had an obligation to comply with paragraph 454 of the Consent Decree. Specifically, that 
means the Monitoring Team was authorized to: 

 Review the serious misconduct complaint investigation. 

 Recommend for further investigation areas the Monitoring Team determined to be incomplete 
or for which the findings are not supported by a preponderance of the evidence. 

 Provide written instructions to the NOPD for completing those portions of the investigation 
the Monitoring Team found incomplete or inadequately supported by the evidence. 

Consent Decree paragraph 454. Subsequent to these steps, the Consent Decree requires that “the 
Superintendent shall determine whether the additional investigation or modification 
recommended by the Monitor should be carried out. Where the Superintendent determines not to 
order the recommended additional investigation or modification, the Superintendent will set out 
the reasons for this determination in writing.” Id. 

The NOPD’s response to the Monitoring Team’s analysis ignores this clear Consent 
Decree process. By doing so, NOPD also defeated the Monitoring Team’s ability to comply with 
the City Council’s request that the Monitoring Team closely monitor PIB’s investigation and 
puts the integrity of its Vappie investigation at risk.11  

2. The City Is In Violation Of Consent Decree Paragraphs 470 and 472 

Paragraph 470 of the Consent Decree explicitly provides “the Monitor shall have access 
to all necessary individuals, facilities, and documents, which shall include access to Agreement 
related trainings, meetings, and reviews, such as critical incident reviews, use of force review 
boards, and disciplinary hearings.” Consent Decree ¶470 (emphasis added). Likewise, Paragraph 
472 explicitly requires the City to ensure that the Monitoring Team has “full and direct access to 
City and NOPD documents that the Monitoring reasonably deems necessary to carry out the 
duties assigned to the Monitor…” Consent Decree ¶472 (emphasis added). These are clear 
statements regarding the Monitoring Team’s unfettered right to the documents it needs to get its 
job done. 

 
11  Further to the integrity of the investigation, the Monitoring Team’s analysis of PIB’s investigation raised 
several concerns about PIB’s failure to take appropriate steps to protect the confidentiality of investigation materials. 
Among other things, we questioned PIB’s decision to share interview recordings with another City office, its failure 
to password protect the USB drive on which interview recordings were stored, and its decision to allow PIB work to 
be conducted outside PIB. Consent Decree paragraph 409 clearly requires “all misconduct investigation interview 
recordings shall be stored and maintained in a secure location within PIB.” Similarly, paragraph 419 requires that 
“all investigation reports and related documentation and evidence shall be securely maintained in a central and 
accessible location…” NOPD’s handling of the interview recordings runs afoul of these clear provisions. 
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As noted above, the Monitoring Team and the IPM requested the Officer Vappie 
investigation report from PIB on multiple occasions during their weekly status meetings. PIB 
rejected these requests. NOPD ultimately closed its investigation of Officer Vappie on March 10, 
2023, and presented Officer Vappie with a verbal notice of disposition at that time. See PIB 
Investigation Report at 29.12  

On March 27, 2023, the Monitoring Team again asked for a copy of PIB’s report, this 
time by email: 

Separately, please let me know the status of the Vappie investigation. Has the 
final report been prepared/submitted for approval? I’m going to want to see all 
iterations of the report (i.e., all drafts submitted to you or any other supervisor for 
review/comment). 

Email from Jonathan Aronie to Keith Sanchez (3/27/23). PIB responded by phone that NOPD 
would not be sharing the report as requested. This refusal prompted the Monitoring Team to 
reiterate its request to PIB by email: 

Keith, 

Thanks for the time on the Vappie call this morning. It was very informative. 

Thanks also for confirming you will be responding to my earlier email and the 
several outstanding requests very soon. 

Regarding my request for copies of all iterations of the Vappie investigation 
report, please let me know when I will be receiving those. Please keep in mind 
that paragraph 470 of the CD makes clear: 

The Monitor shall have access to all necessary individuals, facilities, and 
documents, which shall include access to Agreement related trainings, 
meetings, and reviews, such as critical incident reviews, use of force review 
boards, and disciplinary hearings. 

Further, paragraph 472 provides as follows: 

City and NOPD shall ensure that the Monitor has full and direct access to all 
City and NOPD documents and data that the Monitor reasonably deems 

 
12  NOPD’s closure of its investigation without looking into the actions/inactions of Officer Vappie’s chain of 
command (i.e., his supervisors) further prejudices the Department’s ability to hold those supervisors accountable for 
their potential failure to provide close and effective supervision to officers working on the Executive Protection 
team. Consent Decree paragraph 306 makes clear that “NOPD supervisors shall be held accountable for providing 
the close and effective supervision necessary to direct and guide officers.” 
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necessary to carry out the duties assigned to the Monitor by this Agreement, 
except any documents or data protected by the attorney-client privilege.... 

Fortunately, we never had had to press these issues because, until now, we have 
been provided timely access to all documents and data we requested. If NOPD has 
made a decision to change the level of cooperation we have historically received, I 
need to know that immediately so we can discuss it with Judge Morgan. 

Thanks. 

Be well and be safe. 

-Jonathan 

Email from Jonathan Aronie to Keith Sanchez (3/27/23). 

Two days later, on March 29th, still not having received the investigation report, the 
Monitoring Team reminded PIB of its paragraph 454 obligations: 

Keith, 

Per your earlier request for the CD provisions relating to documents requested by 
the Monitoring Team, you probably want to ensure Michelle is aware of this one 
as well. 

-Jonathan 

454. City and NOPD shall provide each investigation of a serious use of force or 
use of force that is the subject of a misconduct investigation, and each 
investigation report of a serious misconduct complaint investigation (i.e., criminal 
misconduct; unreasonable use of force; discriminatory policing; false arrest or 
planting evidence; untruthfulness/false statements; unlawful search; retaliation; 
sexual misconduct; domestic violence; and theft), to the Monitor before closing 
the investigation or communicating the recommended disposition to the subject of 
the investigation or review. The Monitor shall review each serious use of force 
investigation and each serious misconduct complaint investigation and 
recommend for further investigation any use of force or misconduct complaint 
investigations that the Monitor determines to be incomplete or for which the 
findings are not supported by a preponderance of the evidence. The Monitor shall 
provide written instructions for completing any investigation determined to be 
incomplete or inadequately supported by the evidence. The Superintendent shall 
determine whether the additional investigation or modification recommended by 
the Monitor should be carried out. Where the Superintendent determines not to 
order the recommended additional investigation or modification, the 
Superintendent will set out the reasons for this determination in writing. The 
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Monitor shall provide recommendations so that any further investigation or 
modification can be concluded within the timeframes mandated by state law. The 
Monitor shall coordinate with the IPM in conducting these use of force and 
misconduct investigation reviews. 

Email from Jonathan Aronie to Keith Sanchez (3/29/23). 

Still not having received the investigation report on March 31st, the Monitoring Team 
again wrote to PIB: 

Keith- 

Have you sent me the report(s)? I do not see it/them in my inbox. Jonathan 

Email from Jonathan Aronie to Keith Sanchez (3/31/23). In a follow-up phone call, Deputy Chief 
Sanchez explained he was working to obtain permission to share the requested report. 

The Monitoring Team still had not received the PIB investigation report by April 3rd, and 
again wrote to PIB for a status update: 

Keith, 

You said I’d have the documents last week. I still do not have them. I need them 
and am entitled to them. Shall I call Michelle directly, or will you have them to 
me this morning? 

-Jonathan 

Email from Jonathan Aronie to Keith Sanchez (4/3/23). On the same day, the lead monitor, 
Jonathan Aronie, wrote to and called Interim Superintendent Woodfork, explaining that the 
Monitoring Team had no choice but to bring the matter to the attention of Judge Morgan. 

Following that conversation, Interim Superintendent Woodfork agreed to provide the 
investigation report. The Monitoring Team immediately reached back out to Deputy Chief 
Sanchez: 

Keith, 

Michelle just informed me she okayed you sharing the Vappie report with me. 
Please ensure I receive all iterations of the Report if there are more than one. 
Please have it/them to me by noon. Thank you. 

-Jonathan 

Email from Jonathan Aronie to Keith Sanchez (4/3/23). 
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Later the same day, NOPD finally shared with the Monitoring Team a copy of the final 
PIB report we initially requested in mid-March.13 Sadly, it took multiple meetings, phone calls, 
and emails, and a threat to take the matter to Court, to get what the Monitoring Team clearly is 
entitled to. As sadly, by the time NOPD shared the investigation report with us, it was long after 
the completion of the PIB investigation, which, according to NOPD, was concluded on March 10 
and signed by the Deputy Chief and for the Interim Superintendent (by the Deputy Chief) on 
March 16th. 

NOPD does not disagree it refused to share the PIB report with the Monitoring Team. 
Indeed, NOPD concedes the point: 

We disagree with the Monitoring Team’s analysis that PIB violated the Consent 
Decree by refusing to share a copy of the PIB report with the Monitoring Team 
when requested. 

PIB Response to Monitoring Team Analysis at 1 (4/24/23). While PIB agrees it refused to share 
a properly requested, non-privileged document with the Monitoring Team, NOPD argues its 
refusal is excused because, in its view that, per Consent Decree paragraph 454, payroll fraud does 
not constitute a serious misconduct complaint. Id. This argument, however, not only is wrong, it 
is irrelevant. The clear language of paragraphs 470 and 472 gives the Monitoring Team “full and 
direct access to City and NOPD documents that the Monitoring reasonably deems necessary to 
carry out the duties assigned to the Monitor.” Regardless of how the City wants to read 
paragraph 454 (and, as discussed above, it reads it very wrongly), there can be no serious dispute 
regarding the clarity of paragraphs 470 and 472. 

3. NOPD Failed To Correctly Apply The Preponderance Of The Evidence Standard In 
Its Investigation Of Officer Vappie 

As noted in the Monitoring Team’s analysis of PIB’s investigative report, administrative 
investigation findings must be made using the “preponderance of the evidence” standard. No one 
disputes this. NOPD Policy 51.1.2 aligns with the Consent Decree by requiring that misconduct 
investigators “reach a conclusion supported by the preponderance of the evidence and prepare a 
written recommendation ” NOPD Policy 26.2 likewise aligns with the Consent Decree and 
defines the preponderance of the evidence standard as follows: 

Preponderance of the evidence—Such evidence that when considered and 
compared with that opposed to it has more convincing force and produces in one’s 
mind the belief that what is sought to be proven is more likely true than not true. 

NOPD Policy 26.2; see also NOPD Policy 51.1.2. To use more commonplace terminology, the 
preponderance of the evidence standard is a greater-than-50% standard, or a more-likely-than-not 

 
13  To date, PIB still has not shared any other iterations of the investigation report as requested by the 
Monitoring Team. 
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standard. In contrast, criminal investigations apply a different standard – beyond a reasonable 
doubt. The administrative preponderance of the evidence standard places a far lower burden on 
the investigating agency. 

In the Monitoring Team’s analysis of PIB’s investigative report, we criticized PIB’s 
failure properly to apply and document the investigators’ use of the preponderance of the 
evidence standard. The details of our assessment are set forth in the attached analysis shared with 
PIB and will not be repeated here. Suffice it to say, while NOPD did reach a reasonable 
conclusion in sustaining multiple counts against Officer Vappie, it did not describe the standard 
it applied accurately. 

This is a critical error not only because it violates the Consent Decree and NOPD policy, 
but because it leaves PIB’s investigation open to attack by the subject of the investigation (i.e., 
Officer Vappie). In response to our concerns, PIB responded with nothing more than the 
following: 

Although the governing standard for administrative investigations is a 
preponderance of the evidence, PIB does not approach investigations with an 
intention to make the facts fit. We investigate the complaint by following the lead 
of the facts wherever they lead and when the trail of the facts ends, we begin the 
conclusion of the investigation. 

NOPD Response to Monitoring Team at 2. To the extent this response is coherent at all, it is 
wholly non-responsive as it totally misses the point raised in the Monitoring Team’s analysis. 

In its analysis, the Monitoring Team noted multiple places where the PIB report 
misapplied and misstated the preponderance of the evidence standard. Our concerns have 
nothing to do with when or how to conclude an investigation. Our concerns refer only to the 
misapplication of the proper legal standard. NOPD ignores these concerns, and its refusal to 
engage in a meaningful discussion almost certainly will haunt PIB if Officer Vappie appeals his 
ultimate discipline.14  

4. PIB Review Process 

The PIB investigation report shared with the Monitoring Team has two signature lines – 
one for the Deputy Chief of PIB and one for the Superintendent of Police. Both lines have a 
signature indicating both individuals reviewed and concurred with the information in the report. 
According to NOPD’s response to the Monitoring Team’s analysis, however, the Interim 
Superintendent never actually reviewed the report and the Deputy Chief signed on her behalf 
wrongly indicating that she concurred in the findings. NOPD describes this as a practice “loosely 

 
14  Even more fundamentally, NOPD’s refusal to abide by the Consent Decree renders it more likely PIB will 
fail to hold Officer Vappie and, potentially, his supervisors, accountable for their actions and inactions. The 
misconduct section of the Consent Decree is designed to ensure NOPD holds officers and supervisors accountable 
for policy violations. See Consent Decree Section XVII. 
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described in old policies” and “subject to various interpretations.” PIB Response at 3. NOPD 
goes on the say it is “reviewing to determine its utility at this stage.” Id. 

NOPD does not indicate in what “old policies” this practice is “loosely described.” 
NOPD’s current policy, however, as well as the Consent Decree itself, make clear the 
Superintendent herself is required to sign the investigation report. 

Consent Decree paragraph 416 provides as follows: 

416. The PIB commander shall accept the investigator’s recommended disposition 
and the Superintendent shall approve the disposition, unless the disposition is 
unsupported by a preponderance of the evidence or additional investigation is 
necessary to reach a reliable finding. Where the disposition is unsupported by a 
preponderance of the evidence, the PIB Commander may correct the disposition 
or order additional investigation, as necessary. 

Consent Decree ¶416 (emphasis added). This clear statement is consistent with NOPD’s 
misconduct investigation policy 52.1.1, paragraph 105 of which states the following: 

105. The report shall conclude with the following format for each person in the 
investigator's chain of command, up to and including the Superintendent of 
Police: 

CONCUR I DO NOT CONCUR Date:___________ 

__________________________ 

[rank and name of person in chain of command] 
[title and/or place of assignment] 

The date alongside each signature will be the date the reviewer signed the 
document, not the date appearing at the top of the report. 

NOPD Policy 52.1.1 at §105 (emphasis added). 

The “up to and including” language is clear. But even if it were not clear, paragraph 136 
of the same policy makes the same point: 

136. Once the Deputy of Superintendent of PIB has approved the disposition of an 
investigation conducted by PIB, the investigation disposition shall be 
transmitted to the Superintendent of Police for review and final approval. 
For those investigations conducted by a bureau other than PIB, the Deputy 
Superintendent of PIB’s review concludes the investigation. 

Id. at §136 (emphasis added). Nothing in Policy 52.1.1 is unclear. And even if there were, as 
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NOPD suggests, “old policies” “subject to various interpretations” that “loosely describe” 
NOPD’s current practice of the superintendent not reviewing and signing PIB reports, such 
policies clearly have been superseded by the Department’s current policy, which was reviewed 
and approved by the Monitoring Team and the DOJ. 

In any event, it is unclear to the Monitoring Team what possible utility there could be in a 
deputy chief signing an official document – one which will become a key exhibit in any legal 
action relating to the investigation – for a superintendent who never has reviewed the document 
and, according to NOPD, never gave her authorization to sign on her behalf.15 Nonetheless, we 
are pleased PIB is reviewing its purportedly historic practice to determine its continued “utility.” 

5. Failure to Consider or Document Circumstantial Evidence 

As spelled out in the Monitoring Team’s attached analysis, the PIB investigation report 
fails to consider a wealth of circumstantial evidence relating to the many hours Officer Vappie 
spent in the Upper Pontalba apartment both on and off duty. Among other things, we noted in 
our analysis that 

The Consent Decree mandates that “in each investigation, NOPD shall consider 
all relevant evidence, including circumstantial, direct, and physical evidence, as 
appropriate, and make credibility determinations based upon that evidence. . . . 

Monitoring Team Analysis at 7. Paragraph 26 of NOPD policy 52.1.2 contains the same 
requirement: 

In each investigation, the investigator shall consider all relevant evidence, 
including circumstantial, direct, and physical evidence, as appropriate, and make 
credibility determinations based upon that evidence… 

Policy 52.1.2 (emphasis added). 

In our analysis, the Monitoring Team criticized the PIB investigation report for failing to 
consider the significant circumstantial evidence regarding the time Officer Vappie spent in the 
Upper Pontalba apartment and its relation to the payroll fraud allegation. The Monitoring Team 
described it this way: 

While PIB admittedly did not have visibility into what was going on in that 
apartment — i.e., whether Officer Vappie was there in service of his executive 
protection function or was there for more social reasons — there is much 

 
15  We note in this regard that NOPD’s response to the Monitoring Team’s analysis was signed by Deputy 
Chief Keith Sanchez “for” Interim Superintendent Woodfork. In light of NOPD’s position that a deputy can sign 
“for” a superior without the superior ever seeing, concurring with, or even knowing about that which is signed, it is 
unclear whether the Interim Superintendent ever even saw NOPD’s response – let alone understood her obligation to 
respond to it per Consent Decree paragraph 454. 
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circumstantial evidence that suggests Officer Vappie was not present in 
furtherance of his executive protective duties. This circumstantial evidence 
should have been included in the PIB report since it all is relevant to NOPD’s 
application of the Preponderance of the Evidence standard. 

Monitoring Team analysis at 8 (emphasis added). To highlight the importance of abiding by 
NOPD policy and considering all circumstantial evidence, the Monitoring Team noted that a 
proper analysis would have considered and documented the following: 

 Officer Vappie spent many hours in the City’s Upper Pontalba apartment. 

 Officer Vappie was the only officer among the executive protection team who spent 
any time in the Upper Pontalba apartment. All other officers stayed outside the 
apartment while protecting the Mayor. Had the time in the Upper Pontalba apartment 
truly been work time, other officers presumably would have taken their turn doing the 
same. 

 Officer Vappie changed clothes, used the shower, and undertook various non- 
security tasks (e.g., watering plants) while in the apartment with and without the 
Mayor. 

 Officer Vappie spent time in the Upper Pontalba apartment both on and off duty. 

 Even when Officer Vappie left the Upper Pontalba apartment late at night after 
spending several hours in the apartment, the Mayor often walked alone to her car in 
the French Quarter without any security, strongly suggesting Officer Vappie was not 
spending time in the apartment because of any credible threat to the Mayor’s safety. If 
there had been a credible threat to the Mayor’s safety, (a) other officers would have 
rotated through the in-apartment assignment and (b) the executive protection team 
would not have allowed the Mayor to walk to and from the apartment alone. 

 The news story about the time Officer Vappie spent in the Upper Pontalba apartment 
led to a prompt divorce filing from Officer’s Vappie wife, an unlikely reaction to an 
actual, transparent executive protection detail. 

 No officer spent time inside the Mayor’s residence, which would have been the case 
had there been a credible threat to the Mayor’s safety. 

 Multiple other members of the Mayor’s Executive Protection team testified during the 
PIB investigation to the unprofessional nature of Officer Vappie’s actions, which, 
they felt, brought discredit to the NOPD. 

Monitoring Team analysis at 8-9. 
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Our analysis explained that while these facts do not prove beyond the shadow of a doubt 
Officer Vappie was not working while in the Upper Pontalba apartment, “they demonstrate by a 
preponderance of the evidence that Officer Vappie was not working while in the apartment. Yet 
he was billing the City of New Orleans for much of his time there.” In other words, the 
circumstantial evidence strongly suggests that Officer Vappie may have been involved in payroll 
fraud. Our findings are spelled out in more detail in the attached analysis. 

Not only did PIB’s investigation report ignore this circumstantial evidence, NOPD’s 
response to the Monitoring Team’s analysis similarly ignores the Monitoring Team’s concerns. 
NOPD’s actions here not only fail to comport with the requirements of the Consent Decree, they 
again put the integrity of their underlying investigation at risk. 

6. PIB Failed To Respond To Multiple Other Shortcomings Identified By The 
Monitoring Team 

In addition to the items summarized above, the Monitoring Team identified a number of 
other shortcomings in its analysis of PIB’s investigation report. These include a failure on the 
part of PIB to aggressively pursue interviews with all material witnesses, including the Mayor, 
the former superintendent, and Consulting Chief of Operations16 Fausto Pichardo;17 a failure 
properly to assess the credibility of witnesses; a failure to take adequate steps to protect the 
confidentiality of its investigation; and a failure to cooperate with the New Orleans Office of 
Inspector General. PIB ignored all of these concerns in its response to the Monitoring Team. 
Pursuant to paragraph 454 of the Consent Decree, NOPD should be required to either accept the 
Monitoring Team’s recommendation to remedy the flaws in its investigation or should be 
required to explain in writing why it is rejecting those recommendations. Failure to do so not 
only violates the Consent Decree, but, as noted above, it also puts the integrity of the 
investigation at risk and makes it more likely any discipline imposed will be appealed 
successfully. 

* * * 

It is difficult to understand the City’s position with regard to the Monitoring Team’s 
analysis. The purpose of paragraph 454 is to help improve the quality and integrity of PIB’s 
investigations. Each of the Monitoring Team’s recommendations would benefit the NOPD and, 
by extension, its officers and the community. As things stand now, two professional 
investigators, Captain Kendrick Allen and Lieutenant Lawrence Jones, will have spent months 

 
16  We used the title “Consulting Chief of Operations” for Mr. Pichardo because the Mayor of New Orleans 
has used it publicly. The Monitoring Team, however, has not seen that title on NOPD organizational charts and does 
not know what role Mr. Pichardo plays within the Department. In any event, the Consent Decree makes clear it is 
“binding upon all Parties hereto, by and through their officials, agents, employees, and successors.” Consent Decree 
at ¶8 (emphasis added). 

17  The Mayor, former Superintendent Ferguson, and Consulting Chief of Operations Pichardo all refused to 
be interviewed by the PIB. As noted in the analysis we shared with PIB, these refusals suggest a lack of 
understanding of or respect for NOPD’s accountability systems. 
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conducting an important investigation only to see their hard work potentially overturned by the 
Civil Service Commission or an appeals court. Either the NOPD is hoping for that result, it has a 
remarkable blind spot regarding the quality of its final investigation report, or it stubbornly is 
avoiding taking any recommendation of the Monitoring Team. In any case, the NOPD’s position 
is unfortunate and flies in the face of the letter and spirit of the Consent Decree. 

Regardless of the NOPD’s inexplicable position regarding the Monitoring Team’s 
recommendations, we remain ready and willing to engage with PIB in a meaningful way to 
remedy the shortcomings of and improve the quality of the PIB report to the extent time still is 
available to do so. Until that happens, however, and without taking away from what we have said 
was a serious effort on the part of the investigators to conduct a professional investigation, we 
remain extremely concerned with the way NOPD has approached this matter. 

Thank you Your Honor for the opportunity to submit this report to the Court. As is our 
common practice, we shared a draft of this report with the parties for comment on Monday, May 
1, 2023. DOJ responded with comments on May 8, 2023. NOPD chose not to submit comments, 
although, as noted above, NOPD previously submitted a response to the Monitoring Team’s 
analysis of the Vappie investigation. The Monitoring Team considered and incorporated, where 
appropriate, the feedback received from the parties into this final report. 

Should the Court have additional questions for the Monitoring Team, we will be happy to 
answer them. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
 
Jonathan S. Aronie Consent Decree Monitor 
Partner, Sheppard Mullin LLP 

CC: City Attorney Donesia Turner  
 DOJ Counsel Jonas Geissler 
 Superintendent Michelle Woodfork  
 Deputy Superintendent Keith Sanchez  
 Deputy Monitor David Douglass  
 Independent Police Monitor Stella Cziment 
 Charles F. Zimmer, II, Esq. 
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Monitoring Team’s Response To City Council 

Case 2:12-cv-01924-SM-DPC   Document 714-2   Filed 06/15/23   Page 1 of 2



NOPD CONSENT DECREE MONITOR 
NEW ORLEANS, LOUISIANA 

Office of the Consent Decree Monitor 
* Appointed By Order Of The U.S. District Court For The Eastern District of Louisiana 

202.747.1902 direct 
jaronie@sheppardmullin.com 

November 11, 2022 
File Number:  37PA-191555 

JP Morrell, Councilmember at-Large 
Joseph I. Giarrusso, III, Councilmember District A 
City Hall 
1300 Perdido St. 
New Orleans, LA  70112 

Dear Sirs: 

This letter confirms receipt of your request that the Consent Decree Monitoring Team and the IPM 
jointly investigate matters relating to alleged time card misconduct involving the Mayor’s NOPD 
security detail.  As you know, the Monitoring Team does not investigate specific matters.  Likewise, 
at the moment, the IPM is not staffed to investigate specific matters.  Nonetheless, we understand 
your belief that matters relating to high-ranking officials within the police department or the City 
require extra diligence to ensure there is no real or perceived pressure on the investigators. 
Accordingly, we have conferred with the IPM, and agreed we both will work closely with the New 
Orleans Police Department Public Integrity Bureau to ensure their investigation of NOPD’s role in 
this matter is effective, efficient, and without bias.  The U.S. District Court has agreed that this is 
wholly consistent with our role of monitoring and providing technical assistance to the New Orleans 
Police Department.  We believe this approach will address your concerns and ensure that our role is 
well within the scope of the Consent Decree and that the IPM’s role is met within its current 
resources.  

Thank you for your confidence in us. 

Jonathan S. Aronie 
For SHEPPARD MULLIN RICHTER & HAMPTON LLP* 
2099 PENNSYLVANIA AVE., N.W., SUITE 100 
WASHINGTON, DC  20006 

CC: HONORABLE SUSIE MORGAN (VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL) 
 DAVID L. DOUGLASS, ESQ. (VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL) 
 TIMOTHY MYGATT, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE (VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL) 
 DONESIA D. TURNER, CITY OF NEW ORLEANS (VIA ELECTRONIC MAIL) 
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Monitoring Team’s 2/17/23 Immediate Action Notice to PIB 
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February 17, 2023 

Dear Mr. Sanchez, 

In early November 2022, local TV station Fox 8 began a series of stories involving the Mayor’s security 
detail. The story raised a number of questions regarding the operation of that detail as well as the 
actions of a particular member, Officer Jeffrey Vappie. On November 10, the New Orleans City Council 
requested that the Office of the Consent Decree Monitor and the Office of the Independent Monitor 
conduct an independent investigation of the matter, citing “significant concerns about the apparent 
conflict of interest with the New Orleans Police Department being allowed to, again, investigate serious 
allegations involving Mayor Cantrell.” 

The Monitoring Team responded to the City Council on November 11 explaining that it lacked the 
authority to conduct investigations, but that it would monitor PIB’s investigation of Officer Vappie 
closely to ensure it was effective, efficient, and without bias. As we understand it, PIB opened an 
investigation into the allegations in late November or early December 2022. 

As you know, over the course of PIB’s investigation, the Monitoring Team has met with your 
investigators, Captain Kendrick Allen and Lieutenant Lawrence Jones, on a weekly basis. While we have 
not been involved in the day‐to‐day affairs of the investigation, your team has been open with us 
regarding their strategy and the status of their activities. We appreciate the cooperation your team has 
shown us throughout this matter. 

While we know the Vappie investigation has not yet concluded, the Monitoring Team has become aware 
of several issues that we believe the NOPD should address right away. Rather than waiting until the 
conclusion of PIB’s investigation, we are bringing these matters to your attention at this time to ensure 
NOPD considers taking immediate steps to correct the concerns we identified. Importantly, we offer no 
opinions or recommendations regarding the Vappie investigation itself at this time. Our opinions and 
recommendations relate only to larger policy/process issues that are unrelated to the forthcoming 
substantive findings of the Vappie PIB investigation team. 

Should you have any questions regarding these recommendations, do not hesitate to reach out to us. 

Thank you for your continued cooperation in this matter. 

Respectfully, 

Jonathan Aronie 
Consent Decree Monitor 
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Interim Recommendations Based On Vappie Investigation 

1. Supervision. As you are aware, the NOPD officers assigned to the Executive Protection detail
receive little if any oversight from NOPD supervisors. This appears to have been the case for
years. The members of the detail indicated their belief that their only supervisor was the Mayor
herself. While the Mayor seemingly is responsible for assignments and schedules, there is no
indication the Mayor played any role in supervision beyond that. NOPD should take immediate
action to ensure the members of the Executive Protection detail receive the “close and
effective supervision” required by the Consent Decree.

2. Policy. Currently, no written policy guides the operation of the Executive Protection detail or the
actions of the officers assigned to that detail. Likewise, no written document (policy or
otherwise) sets out the standards and protocols with which members of the Executive
Protection team are expected to comply. The lack of written guidance almost certainly will
impact PIB’s investigation of Officer Vappie. NOPD should take immediate action to develop
clear policies and procedures governing the operation of Executive Protection detail and the
officers assigned to that detail. As required by the Consent Decree, such policies and
procedures should “define terms clearly, comply with applicable law and the requirements of
the Consent Decree, and comport with best practices.”

3. Performance Evaluations. The Consent Decree requires that “officers who police effectively and
ethically are recognized through the performance evaluation process, and that officers who lead
effectively and ethically are identified and receive appropriate consideration for promotion” and
that “poor performance or policing that otherwise undermines public safety and community
trust is reflected in officer evaluations so that NOPD can identify and effectively respond.”
Without any meaningful NOPD supervision, it is unclear to us who, if anyone, evaluates the
performance of members of the Executive Protection detail. NOPD should take immediate
action to ensure members of the Executive Protection detail are evaluated in the same manner
as other NOPD officers.

4. Efficiency. We understand that members of the Executive Protection team get paid for a full
shift whether or not the Mayor is in town. It is unclear, however, what work they are performing
while the Mayor is not in town beyond occasional administrative tasks like cleaning the Mayor’s
car and catching up on Departmental paperwork. At a time when NOPD has vocally complained
about its lack of officers — and used the lack of officers to explain its inability to comply with
various Consent Decree obligations — it would seem to be quite inefficient to have multiple
days when 1‐2 additional officers are available to perform patrol work, but they are not
performing patrol work. NOPD should consider identifying meaningful tasks members of the
Executive Protection team can perform while the Mayor is out of town to contribute to the
Department’s well‐publicized efforts to combat its lack of personnel.
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5. Legal Conflicts. The City Attorney provides “legal advice to the Mayor, the City Council, and
other city offices, departments, and boards,” including the NOPD. While this joint
representation normally creates no conflict, when the Mayor is or may be a material witness in a
PIB investigation, the risk of a real or perceived conflict is significant. Indeed, this occurred in the
Vappie investigation when the City Attorney visited PIB to monitor the second interview of
Officer Vappie. Situations like this can create the perception that City Hall is attempting to
intimidate interviewees or investigators, or otherwise interfere in a PIB investigation. Such
perception may be avoided when the Mayor is or may be a witness by (i) the imposition of a
formal wall to block the exchange of information between the Mayor’s office/City Attorney’s
Office and PIB and (ii) engaging outside counsel to support PIB throughout the investigation. The
Office of the Independent Monitor made this suggestion in a thoughtful public letter to the City
Council on February 9, 2023. The Monitoring Team agrees with the IPM’s concerns. NOPD
should consider engaging outside counsel to advise PIB on matters when the City Attorney’s
representation of the City, Mayor’s Office, and PIB could create a real or apparent conflict of
interest.

6. Reassignment Of Officers Under Investigation. We understand, pursuant to Policy 13.1, the
Superintendent has the discretion to administratively reassign officers during certain PIB
investigations. In this case, Officer Vappie had been moved out of the Executive Protection
detail pending the PIB investigation, which was a sensible decision considering the nature of the
allegations, the public profile of the investigation, and the likelihood that the Mayor would be a
material witness in the investigation. Outgoing Superintendent Ferguson, however, hours before
his retirement, directed the return of Officer Vappie to the Mayor’s security detail.  While this
order, fortunately, was reversed by a deputy chief and the City Attorney, the order itself created
at the very least the appearance of interference in a PIB investigation. NOPD should consider
revising its policy to prohibit officers reassigned due to a PIB investigation from being assigned
back to their units until the conclusion of the PIB investigation without the express approval of
the PIB Deputy Chief.

7. PIB Investigators. During the course of the PIB investigation, the two investigators assigned to
the Vappie investigation were moved out of PIB. The lead investigator, Lawrence Jones, was
promoted to lieutenant and moved to the district patrol. The PIB Captain, Kendrick Allen, was
assigned to command a district. Without at all suggesting these two promotions were not
warranted, NOPD should have considered detailing both individuals back to PIB until the
completion of the Vappie investigation. While Superintendent Woodfork assured the
Monitoring Team both officers would be given adequate time to complete their investigation, as
a practical matter, this is difficult to accomplish in practice. PIB readily concedes it lacks
adequate personnel to perform aspects of its investigation in the best of times (e.g., reviewing
videos and documents). Adding a full time job to Allen’s and Jones’s schedules on top of their
PIB jobs virtually guarantees both jobs will be compromised to some extent. NOPD should
consider adopting a policy of detailing promoted officers back to PIB for limited timeframes
when necessary to complete significant pending investigations.
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8. Initial Investigation Letters. At the outset of the investigation, PIB alerted Officer Vappie it had
opened an administrative investigation initiated by a public complaint. The letter advised Officer
Vappie that PIB would focus on an alleged violation of the 16.35 hour rule as well as other
matters. PIB was aware at that time, however, of several other potential violations by Officer
Vappie as a result of the Fox 8 coverage, including potential violations of NOPD’s
professionalism, conflict, and time charging rules. While PIB represented to the Monitoring
Team that the general “other matters” language was all that was required to put Officer Vappie
on notice of the allegations against him, the limited wording of the initial letter created
avoidable problems during the Vappie interview. NOPD should consider the pros and cons of
including a more complete description of the conduct under investigation in its initial letters to
investigation subjects.
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I. Introduction

In early November 2022, local New Orleans TV station Fox8 ran a series of stories 
involving the Mayor Latoya Cantrell’s executive protection detail. The story raised a 
number of questions regarding the operation of that detail as well as the actions of a 
particular member, Officer Jeffrey Vappie. PIB opened an investigation into the 
allegations raised in the story on November 9, 2022. 

On November 10, 2022, the New Orleans City Council requested that the Office of 
the Consent Decree Monitor and the Office of the Independent Monitor conduct their 
own independent investigation into the Vappie allegations, citing “significant 
concerns about the apparent conflict of interest with the New Orleans Police 
Department being allowed to, again, investigate serious allegations involving Mayor 
Cantrell.”1 The Monitoring Team responded to the City Council on November 11 
explaining that it lacked the authority to conduct investigations, but that it would 
monitor PIB’s investigation of Officer Vappie closely to ensure it was effective, 
efficient, and without bias.2  

Consistent with its response to the City Council and its obligations under the Consent 
Decree to closely monitor significant misconduct investigations,3 the Monitoring 
Team met with Deputy Chief Keith Sanchez and PIB’s investigators Captain Kendrick 
Allen and Lieutenant Lawrence Jones on an almost weekly basis over the course of 
PIB’s investigation. While we were not involved in the day‐to‐day affairs of the 
investigation (the Consent Decree makes clear the Monitoring Team has no role in 
running the NOPD4), the PIB team seemingly was open with us regarding their 
strategy and the status of their activities. We appreciate the cooperation we received 
from PIB throughout this matter. 

On February 17, 2023, prior to the conclusion of the investigation, the Monitoring 
Team sent an “immediate action notice” to Deputy Chief Sanchez alerting him to 
several issues we believed the NOPD should address right away. Rather than waiting 
until the conclusion of PIB’s investigation, we brought these matters to PIB’s attention 
at that time to ensure NOPD would take immediate steps to correct the concerns we 
identified. Our opinions and recommendations related only to larger policy/process 
issues that were unrelated to the then-still-forthcoming substantive findings of the PIB 

1 The City Council letter is attached to this Report as Exhibit A. 
2 The Monitoring Team’s response to City Council is attached to this Report as Exhibit B. 
3 See, e.g., Consent Decree paragraphs 377, 444, 454, 455. 
4 Consent Decree paragraph 445. 
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Vappie investigation team. We have incorporated those earlier recommendations 
into this Report. 

PIB completed its investigation into the actions/inactions of Officer Vappie on March 
10, 2023, and submitted the investigation report to Deputy Chief Sanchez the same 
day. Deputy Chief Sanchez and Interim Chief Michelle Woodfork reviewed and 
concurred with the investigators’ findings on March 16, 2023, as reflected in the 
signature block of the PIB report, copied here:  

NOPD, however, refused to share a copy of its investigation report with the 
Monitoring Team until April 3, 2023. 

The Consent Decree requires NOPD to provide every serious misconduct complaint 
investigation “to the Monitor before closing the investigation or communicating the 
recommended disposition to the subject of the investigation or review.” CD at 454. 
This was not done here despite the Monitoring Team making numerous requests for 
access to the investigators’ report. This is a violation of the Consent Decree that 
impacts the Monitor’s obligations to review “each serious misconduct complaint 
investigation and recommend for further investigation any . . . misconduct complaint 
investigations that the Monitor determines to be incomplete or for which the findings 
are not supported by a preponderance of the evidence.” Id. Further, the Consent 
Decree directs the Monitoring Team to “provide written instructions for completing 
any investigation determined to be incomplete or inadequately supported by the 
evidence.” Id. By withholding the investigation from the Monitoring Team until well 
after communicating the disposition of the investigation with the subject, NOPD 
thwarted the Monitoring Team’s ability to meet its obligations under the Consent 
Decree. 
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Nonetheless, the Monitoring Team has performed a careful review of the PIB report 
shared with us on April 3, and provides the recommendations set out in this Report as 
contemplated by the Consent Decree. 

II. Analysis of Investigation

NOPD opened its investigation into Officer Vappie on November 9, 2022 and 
concluded its investigation on March 10, 2023. PIB sustained multiple allegations 
against Officer Vappie, including violations of the 16.58 hour work day limitation, 
violations of NOPD’s professionalism rules, and violation of NOPD’s rules requiring 
officers to devote their entire time on duty to their actual NOPD duties. PIB’s specific 
findings and recommendations are shown here: 
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As will be discussed below, the Monitoring Team finds these conclusions to be 
reasonable based upon the facts available to PIB.  

The Monitoring Team met regularly with the lead PIB investigators, the Deputy Chief 
of PIB, and the IPM throughout the PIB investigation. While we were not given access 
to PIB’s report until April 3, 2023, which is a serious violation of the Consent Decree, 
we otherwise did receive meaningful cooperation from the PIB team.  

Overall, we are satisfied that PIB’s investigation into the actions and inactions of 
Officer Vappie met the requirements of the Consent Decree. Captain Allen and 
Lieutenant Jones took their jobs seriously and pursued the investigation with 
diligence and integrity. The Monitoring Team reviewed all witness and subject 
interviews conducted by PIB and can confirm the seriousness of the questions asked 
by the investigators, their lack of bias, and the appropriate scope of the questions. 
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We did not see any evidence of “pulling punches” in the interviews. The questions 
were well thought out, relevant, and meaningful.5 

Additionally, PIB performed well, particularly in the absence of policies governing the 
Mayor’s executive protection detail. The absence of policies makes administrative 
investigations much harder. The absence of policies here almost certainly negatively 
impacted material elements of the Vappie investigation. Nonetheless, PIB 
appropriately considered the lack of policies and properly incorporated that fact into 
its decision-making process. 

While PIB’s investigation was reasonable and meaningful, the Monitoring Team does 
have some concerns, all of which we expressed previously to PIB. These concerns are 
outlined in the subsections below. 

A. PIB Failed To Include An Analysis Of The Circumstantial Evidence
Supporting Its Professionalism Finding.

The Consent Decree mandates that all investigative findings in a misconduct 
investigation be supported using the “preponderance of the evidence standard.”6 
Further, the Consent Decree mandates that “in each investigation, NOPD shall 
consider all relevant evidence, including circumstantial, direct, and physical evidence, 
as appropriate, and make credibility determinations based upon that evidence.”7 
There is much to unpack in these requirements.  

• First, it is important to note NOPD has an obligation to consider direct and
circumstantial evidence in its administrative investigations.

• Second, because facts are often not clear in an investigation, NOPD must make
credibility determinations based upon the direct and circumstantial evidence
available to it. In doing so, NOPD must not credit an officer’s account of the
events simply because he/she is an officer.

• Third, NOPD must apply a “preponderance of the evidence” standard. This
means, to sustain a complaint, the NOPD need not have uncontroverted

5 We note that we are unable to opine on the quality of PIB’s data analysis (e.g., its review of 
emails, Officer Vappie’s phone, and video evidence from the French Quarter security cameras) as we 
were not given detailed insight into the scope of these reviews. We do note, however, that 
notwithstanding the diligence of Captain Allen and Lieutenant Jones, it is likely PIB lacked the time and 
resources to conduct fully in-depth reviews of these sources. 
6 Consent Decree paragraph 414. 
7 Consent Decree paragraph 413 (emphasis added). 
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evidence. Rather, NOPD simply must determine whether the events 
complained of are more likely than not (i.e., 51%) to have occurred.8  

While investigators understandably like concrete facts, uncontroverted allegations, 
and evidence beyond a reasonable doubt, such is not the requirement for sustaining 
a complaint in an administrative investigation. 

Here, the PIB investigators did a good job applying the Preponderance of the 
Evidence standard and, in our view, came to the correct conclusion regarding the 
allegations sustained. However, PIB incorporated incorrect and confusing language 
in its investigation report and missed an important opportunity to explain the basis 
for its findings by not including an analysis of how it applied the Preponderance of 
the Evidence standard to the facts before it, especially in the area of the significant 
time Officer Vappie spent in the Upper Pontalba apartment during work and non-
work hours. This gap in the investigation report will make it harder for NOPD to 
defend its position should Officer Vappie appeal the discipline imposed. 

While PIB admittedly did not have visibility into what was going on in that apartment 
— i.e., whether Officer Vappie was there in service of his executive protection function 
or was there for more social reasons — there is much circumstantial evidence that 
suggests Officer Vappie was not present in furtherance of his executive protective 
duties. This circumstantial evidence should have been included in the PIB report 
since it all is relevant to NOPD’s application of the Preponderance of the Evidence 
standard. For example, a robust Preponderance of the Evidence analysis would have 
noted and documented the following: 

• Officer Vappie spent many hours in the City’s Upper Pontalba apartment.9 

• Officer Vappie was the only officer among the executive protection detail who 
spent any time in the Upper Pontalba apartment. All other officers stayed 
outside the apartment while protecting the Mayor. Had the time in the Upper 
Pontalba apartment truly been work time, other officers presumably would 
have taken their turn doing the same. 

 
8  We note that in the Disciplinary Recommendation section of its report, PIB uses the phrase 
“proved beyond a preponderance of evidence.” The proper phrase is “by a preponderance of the 
evidence.” Incorporating the word “beyond” creates needless confusion since that word most often is 
used in connection with a criminal finding of “beyond a reasonable doubt,” which is a wholly different 
standard of proof. 
9  According to information made public by Fox8 news, Officer Vappie spent at least 112 hours 
in the Upper Pontalba apartment during the period analysis by the station. 
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• Officer Vappie changed clothes, used the shower, and undertook various non-
security tasks (e.g., watering plants) while in the apartment with or without the
Mayor.

• Officer Vappie spent time in the Upper Pontalba apartment both on and off
duty.

• Even when Officer Vappie left the Upper Pontalba apartment late at night after
spending several hours in the apartment, the Mayor often walked alone to her
car in the French Quarter without any security, strongly suggesting Officer
Vappie was not spending time in the apartment because of any credible threat
to the Mayor’s safety. If there had been a credible threat to the Mayor’s safety,
(a) other officers would have rotated through the in-apartment assignment and
(b) the executive protection team would not have allowed the Mayor to walk to
and from the apartment alone.

• The news story about the time Officer Vappie spent in the Upper Pontalba
apartment led to a prompt divorce filing from Officer’s Vappie wife, an unlikely
reaction to an actual, transparent executive protection detail.

• No officer spent time inside the Mayor’s residence, which would have been the
case had there been a credible threat to the Mayor’s safety.

• Multiple other members of the Mayor’s Executive Protection detail testified
during the PIB investigation to the unprofessional nature of Officer Vappie’s
actions, which, they felt, brought discredit to the NOPD.

While these facts do not prove beyond the shadow of a doubt Officer Vappie was not 
working while in the Upper Pontalba apartment, they demonstrate by a 
preponderance of the evidence that Officer Vappie was not working while in the 
apartment. Yet he was billing the City of New Orleans for much of his time there. 

The only evidence refuting this circumstantial evidence is Officer Vappie’s own 
statement in his PIB interview that his relationship with the Mayor was professional 
and, while in the apartment, he was working and stayed in the common areas 
(although he couldn’t describe what those common areas were). But Officer Vappie’s 
own statement is the only evidence in support of Officer Vappie’s position. The one 
other witness who could have corroborated Officer Vappie’s statement, the Mayor, 
refused to be interviewed by PIB. Indeed, the Mayor’s unwillingness to meet with PIB 
for an interview is further circumstantial evidence that Officer Vappie was not working 
while in the Upper Pontalba apartment. 
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The circumstantial evidence here not only paints a compelling picture in support of 
PIB’s finding that Officer Vappie acted unprofessionally with regard to his time in the 
Upper Pontalba apartment, it also strongly suggests Officer Vappie’s statements 
regarding what he was doing in the apartment were not credible. As noted above, it 
is PIB’s obligation to assess the credibility of witness and officer statements.10 It is 
inappropriate for PIB to accept an officer’s account of a situation in the face of more 
credible circumstantial evidence, especially where the officer has an incentive (i.e., 
preservation of his job) to not be fully transparent regarding the facts. 

Here, PIB found every witness to be credible except Officer Vappie. With regard to 
Officer Vappie, PIB found that, “After comparing Officer Vappie’s administrative 
statement with the evidence reviewed during this investigation, the investigators 
were unable to confidently assess his credibility.” PIB Report at 31. The Monitoring 
Team submits that a more robust analysis of the circumstantial evidence available to 
PIB would have supported a stronger statement regarding Officer Vappie’s lack of 
credibility in several of his interview statements.11 

We find that the circumstantial evidence available to PIB strongly suggests some 
manner of a social relationship between Officer Vappie and the Mayor which led to 
unprofessional actions by Officer Vappie — actions that the other witnesses agreed 
were unprofessional, not within protocol, and not consistent with executive 
protection. While PIB came to the correct conclusion regarding the disposition of the 
professionalism allegation (i.e., Sustained), PIB should have done a better job 
analyzing and documenting the circumstantial evidence supporting its conclusions. 

B. PIB Created Needless Ambiguity When It Used “May Have
Violated” Language In The Context Of Sustaining The Rule 3
Violation.

PIB’s use of the phrase “may have violated this rule” in the context of sustaining the 
Rule 3 professional violation was a mistake. There is no room for a “may have 
violated” finding in a PIB investigation. PIB either finds a violation by a 
preponderance of the evidence (i.e., by 51%), or finds no violation by a 
preponderance of the evidence. We read PIB’s “may have violated” language as 
ambiguous and likely to be challenged on appeal by the subject of the investigation. 

PIB did not create any such confusion regarding its other findings. with regard to its 
Rule 4 sustain involving the 16.58 hours violation, PIB concluded Officer violated 

10 See, e.g., Consent Decree paragraph 413. 
11 Assessing credibility is not always an easy task. But the complexity of the analysis does not 
relieve NOPD of the obligation to make the assessment. Saying “we were unable to assess his 
credibility” is simply another way of saying we did not do what is required of us with regard to 
credibility assessments. 
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NOPD’s rules by a preponderance of the evidence. PIB did not equivocate. Likewise, 
in sustaining the other Rule 4 violation, devoting entire time to duty, PIB found that 
Officer Vappie “was not attentive to duty.” There is no reason PIB should have used 
weaker language from the Rule 3 violation involving professionalism.12  

As discussed above, the Monitoring Team sees significant circumstantial evidence 
that Officer Vappie acted unprofessionally while spending extensive hours in the 
Upper Pontalba apartment and while dining with the Mayor with his back to the door 
of the restaurant. We see no reason for ambiguous “may have violated” language in 
this context. PIB should state it found a violation by a preponderance of the evidence 
just as it did with the other two violations. 

C. PIB Failed To Aggressively Pursue All Potential Material Witnesses.

At the outset of the investigation, PIB identified the witnesses it intended to interview. 
Neither the Mayor (the only witness beyond Vappie himself who could confirm 
whether Vappie was working while in the Upper Pontalba apartment), the former 
Superintendent, nor various supervisors in Vappie’s chain of command were included 
in PIB’s initial investigation plan. The Monitoring Team raised this issue and PIB 
agreed to request an interview from Chief Ferguson and the Mayor. Unfortunately, 
both declined to be interviewed. These refusals reflect a lack of respect for the NOPD 
PIB process, and made it harder for PIB to get its job done. 

Further, PIB did not attempt to interview the several officers in Vappie’s chain of 
command. The Monitoring Team believes it is critical to interview supervisors — up to 
and including the cognizant deputy chief — in cases like this. What supervisors knew 
and didn’t know, what they approved and didn’t approve, and what steps they took, if 
any, to provide close and effective supervision are important components of a robust 
administrative investigation. PIB missed this opportunity here. 

Finally, with regard to the sustained 16.58 hour violation relating to the time Officer 
Vappie was assigned to consultant Fausto Pichardo (and not to the Mayor’s executive 
protection detail), we commend NOPD for attempting to interview Mr. Pichardo. In 
response to this effort, however, Mr. Pichardo refused to participate in the PIB 
process, informing PIB “there is nothing that I can contribute to aid this investigation." 
PIB should not have rolled over so easily in the face of this unprofessional refusal. 
According to statements made by the Mayor, Mr. Pichardo is serving as the NOPD’s 
Consulting Chief of Operations.13 Presumably, he must abide by NOPD’s rules and 

12 PIB also used vague language with regard to its finding that Officer Jeffrey Vappie “may also 
have violated Rule IX of the Civil Service Rules for the City of New Orleans.” Here again, PIB should 
have found a violation or not by a preponderance of the evidence. 
13 While the Mayor has used the title “Consulting Chief of Operations” to describe Mr. Pichardo, 
we note that that title does not appear in any of NOPD’s organizational charts. The Monitoring Team 
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procedures, and comply with the directions of his NOPD supervisors. Had NOPD 
directed Mr. Pichardo to meet with PIB, presumably he would have done so. But 
there appears to have been no real effort to make that happen. 

The quality of PIB investigations hinges on the willingness of material witnesses to 
participate in the PIB process. Every officer requested to participate, whether current 
or former, did so. In contrast, retired Chief Ferguson, the Mayor, and NOPD’s 
Consulting Chief of Operations refused to do so. NOPD should have explored 
whether it had other tools available to it to convince these individuals to participate in 
such an important process. 

D. PIB Failed To Take Advantage Of Opportunities To Cooperate With
The New Orleans Office Of The Inspector General.

The New Orleans Inspector General reached out to NOPD and PIB on numerous 
occasions offering to support PIB’s investigation. Apparently, the IG is conducting its 
own investigation into broader issues regarding the French Quarter apartment, and, 
in the course of that investigation, has reviewed hundreds of hours of video showing 
the time Officer Vappie spent in the Upper Pontalba apartment while on duty and off 
duty. PIB, however, failed to accept the IG’s offer of assistance. In the Monitoring 
Team’s view this was a mistake. The New Orleans IG has resources — forensic, data 
analysis, and personnel — NOPD simply does not have.  

E. PIB Failed To Take Adequate Steps To Protect The Confidentiality
Of Its Investigation.

At the outset of the Vappie investigation, the Monitoring Team and the IPM advised 
PIB to implement additional protections to ensure the confidentiality of its 
investigation. Because of public and media focus on the investigation and the fact 
that the Mayor, their boss, likely would be a material witness in the investigation, we 
felt extra precautions were necessary to protect the integrity of the investigation and 
avoid any appearance of impropriety. Among other things, the Monitoring Team and 
the IPM advised PIB to establish a small circle of individuals authorized to have access 
to investigation materials, and to preclude all others from such access. PIB agreed on 
the importance of confidentiality and agreed that only a small circle within PIB would 
have access to investigation materials. 

PIB failed to take the necessary steps to implement the protections it promised. 

has asked NOPD numerous time what role Mr. Pichardo is playing and what his responsibilities he has 
within the NOPD, but has never received a consistent answer. 
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• First, it appears PIB shared a copy of all witness interview audio recordings with
the City Attorney’s Office. While we recognize the City Attorney represents PIB
and the City and, at some point, may have a need to review those recordings
(e.g., as part of a Civil Service appeal), requesting those recordings prior to the
conclusion of the investigation created a risk of an inadvertent breach as well
as an appearance of impropriety.14

• Second, the audio recordings shared with the City Attorney apparently were
shared on a non-password protected USB drive, increasing the risk and
consequence of an inadvertent disclosure.

• Third, NOPD reassigned the two PIB investigators into the districts during the
investigation, which meant they were working on highly confidential matters
from their district offices rather than from the protected confines of PIB. This
decision created an additional risk of an inadvertent breach of confidentiality.

The confidentiality of PIB investigations is critical for many reasons, including 
ensuring the integrity of the investigation itself, avoiding improper pressure on the 
investigation team and the witnesses, and avoiding the risk that information from an 
administrative investigation could contaminate a parallel or subsequent criminal 
investigation. It is too early to know whether the failure to ensure the confidentiality of 
the Vappie investigation will lead to these problems.  

F. PIB Violated The Consent Decree By Refusing To Share A Copy Of
The PIB Report With The Monitoring Team When Requested.

Well before the conclusion of the PIB investigation, the Monitoring Team (and the 
IPM) requested a copy of the near-final PIB investigation report. NOPD rejected the 
Monitoring Team’s request. The Monitoring Team repeated its request multiple times 
over the course of the following weeks, to no avail.  

The failure to share drafts of the PIB report with the Monitoring Team violates the 
clear terms of the Consent Decree, paragraph 454 of which provides as follows: 

454. City and NOPD shall provide each investigation of a
serious use of force or use of force that is the subject of a
misconduct investigation, and each investigation report of
a serious misconduct complaint investigation (i.e., criminal
misconduct; unreasonable use of force; discriminatory
policing; false arrest or planting evidence;

14 The City Attorney’s Office has acknowledged an inadvertent public disclosure of all PIB 
interview recordings in the Vappie matter. 
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untruthfulness/false statements; unlawful search; 
retaliation; sexual misconduct; domestic violence; and 
theft), to the Monitor before closing the investigation or 
communicating the recommended disposition to the 
subject of the investigation or review. The Monitor shall 
review each serious use of force investigation and each 
serious misconduct complaint investigation and 
recommend for further investigation any use of force or 
misconduct complaint investigations that the Monitor 
determines to be incomplete or for which the findings are 
not supported by a preponderance of the evidence. The 
Monitor shall provide written instructions for completing 
any investigation determined to be incomplete or 
inadequately supported by the evidence. The 
Superintendent shall determine whether the additional 
investigation or modification recommended by the 
Monitor should be carried out. Where the Superintendent 
determines not to order the recommended additional 
investigation or modification, the Superintendent will set 
out the reasons for this determination in writing. The 
Monitor shall provide recommendations so that any further 
investigation or modification can be concluded within the 
timeframes mandated by state law. The Monitor shall 
coordinate with the IPM in conducting these use of force 
and misconduct investigation reviews. 

It is unclear why NOPD refused to share its report with the Monitoring Team when it 
was required by the Consent Decree to do so. This is the first time over the course of 
the Consent Decree NOPD has withheld information from the Monitoring Team. 

Ultimately, after multiple requests and a threat to take the matter to Judge Morgan, 
PIB did turn over its report on April 3, 2023. Such a late production, however, made it 
much harder for the Monitoring Team to fulfill its obligations under paragraph 454 of 
the Consent Decree. 

G. PIB Failed To Make An Effort To Secure Officer Vappie’s Personal 
Cell Phone. 

Soon after the launch of the Vappie investigation, it became clear Officer Vappie may 
have been communicating with the Mayor or the Mayor’s staff via cell phone. 
Consequently, PIB secured Officer Vappie’s work phone. However, a forensic analysis 
of the work phone failed to turn up relevant texts, emails, or voicemails. Yet, clearly, 
considering the extensive hours Officer Vappie spent in the Upper Pontalba 
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apartment both on and off the clock, Officer Vappie and the Mayor’s office must have 
been corresponding somehow. The most likely vehicle for such frequent 
communications, if not Officer Vappie’s work phone, must be Officer Vappie’s 
personal cell phone. The evidence on his personal phone (e.g., texts, locations, 
voicemails, etc.) could have been relevant to support or rebut Officer Vappie’s 
testimony regarding what he was doing while spending so many hours in the Upper 
Pontalba apartment both on and off the clock.  

While PIB did appropriately secure Officer Vappie’s work phone, it chose not even to 
request Officer Vappie’s personal phone. In the view of the Monitoring Team, this was 
a mistake. While the law is not perfectly clear in this area, the prevailing legal view 
seems to be a police agency can secure an officer’s personal phone where it is 
reasonable to do so. We submit that, while not without room for an opposing view, 
NOPD did have adequate reason to do so here. Witnesses confirmed the Mayor’s 
office did communicate with officers on the executive protection detail using cell 
phones. Since PIB did not find communications regarding the time spent in the 
Upper Pontalba apartment on Vappie’s work phone, it stands to reason such 
communications must have come via Officer Vappie’s personal phone. Consequently, 
reviewing the content of that phone could have supported Officer Vappie’s statement 
that he was working while in the Upper Pontalba apartment. It also could have 
countered Officer Vappie’s statement. Either way, the information on the personal 
phone would have been relevant to PIB’s investigation. 

H. Conclusion

The shortcomings noted above are substantive and material. NOPD should take 
immediate action to implement a corrective action plan to (a) fix what it can within the 
timeframe available for the Vappie investigation, and (b) ensure no recurrence of 
these shortcomings in future investigations. Notwithstanding these shortcomings and 
opportunities for improvement, however, we reiterate our finding that the PIB 
investigators did a good job in their investigation of Officer Vappie. Their decision to 
sustain multiple allegations against Officer Vappie was reasonable and supported by 
the facts. We commend Captain Allen and Lieutenant Jones for undertaking a quality 
investigation in a high pressure situation. We also commend Deputy Chief Sanchez 
for taking this matter seriously. 

One final recommendation is worth mentioning here. The NOPD Discipline Review 
Board should seriously consider “mitigating up” the discipline imposed on Officer 
Vappie considering the significant circumstantial evidence demonstrating his lack of 
professionalism stemming from his time in the Upper Pontalba apartment during 
working and non-working hours, and his meals with the Mayor with his back to the 
door during working hours. 
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The PIB discipline matrix15 gives NOPD the opportunity to increase discipline beyond 
the matrix where aggravating circumstances are present. NOPD’s Discipline Policy 
26.2.1 describes aggravating circumstances as “conditions or events that increase the 
seriousness of misconduct and may increase the degree of penalty. Aggravating 
circumstances may be considered at a penalty hearing to deviate from the 
recommended or presumptive punishment. For example, if an offense carries a 
penalty range of one to three days’ suspension, a hearing officer may choose to 
impose a three-day suspension in light of aggravating circumstances.” 

Moreover, NOPD policy 26.2 makes clear “Discipline shall be based upon the nature 
of the violation, with consideration of aggravating and mitigating circumstances, 
rather than the identity of the accused or his or her status within the NOPD.” Further, 
Chapter 26.2.1 provides that the penalty hearing officer must recommend the 
presumptive penalty unless aggravating or mitigating circumstances exist and are 
specifically articulated in the hearing record. 

In the discussion above, we set out the Monitoring Team’s view regarding how PIB 
should have better documented the circumstantial evidence relating to Officer 
Vappie’s lack of professionalism. While we agree with PIB’s decision to sustain on the 
professionalism count, we see an appropriate use of that same extensive 
circumstantial evidence to deviate upward from the presumptive discipline set out in 
the matrix. 

III. Policy Recommendations

On February 17, 2023, prior to the conclusion of the investigation, the Monitoring 
Team sent an “immediate action notice” to the Deputy Chief of PIB alerting him to 
several policy and structural issues we believe the NOPD should address right away. 
Rather than waiting until the conclusion of PIB’s investigation, we brought these 
matters to PIB’s attention at that time to ensure NOPD could take immediate steps to 
correct the concerns we identified. We made clear to PIB we were offering no 
opinions or recommendations regarding the Vappie investigation itself since we had 
not seen the investigation report yet. Our opinions and recommendations related 
only to larger policy/process issues that are not tied to the substantive findings of the 
Vappie PIB investigation team.  

The Monitoring Team recommended the following actions based on our review of 
the early stages of the PIB investigation into the actions/inactions of Officer Vappie, 
and reiterates those recommendations here since we have not yet heard back from 
PIB on our February 17 letter: 

15 Consent Decree paragraph 422 requires NOPD’s use of a discipline matrix. 
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• Supervision. The NOPD officers assigned to the Executive Protection detail
receive little if any oversight from NOPD supervisors. This appears to have
been the case for years. The members of the detail indicated their belief that
their only supervisor was the Mayor herself. While the Mayor seemingly is
responsible for assignments and schedules, there is no indication the Mayor
played any role in supervision beyond that. NOPD should take immediate
action to ensure the members of the Executive Protection detail receive the
“close and effective supervision” required by the Consent Decree.16

• Policy. No written policy guides the operation of the Executive Protection
detail or the actions of the officers assigned to that detail. Likewise, no written
document (policy or otherwise) sets out the standards and protocols with
which members of the Executive Protection team are expected to comply. The
lack of written guidance almost certainly hindered PIB’s investigation of Officer
Vappie. NOPD should take immediate action to develop clear policies and
procedures governing the operation of Executive Protection detail and the
officers assigned to that detail. As required by the Consent Decree, such
policies and procedures should “define terms clearly, comply with applicable
law and the requirements of the Consent Decree, and comport with best
practices.”17

• Performance Evaluations. The Consent Decree requires that “officers who
police effectively and ethically are recognized through the performance
evaluation process, and that officers who lead effectively and ethically are
identified and receive appropriate consideration for promotion” and that “poor
performance or policing that otherwise undermines public safety and
community trust is reflected in officer evaluations so that NOPD can identify
and effectively respond.”18 Without any meaningful NOPD supervision, it is
unclear to us who, if anyone, evaluates the performance of members of the
Executive Protection detail. NOPD should take immediate action to ensure
members of the Executive Protection detail are evaluated in the same manner
as other NOPD officers.

• Efficiency. We understand that members of the Executive Protection team are
paid for a full shift whether or not the Mayor is in town. It is unclear, however,
what work they are performing while the Mayor is not in town beyond
occasional administrative tasks like cleaning the Mayor’s car and catching up
on Departmental paperwork. At a time when NOPD has vocally complained
about its lack of officers — and used the lack of officers to explain its inability to

16 See Consent Decree section XV for a discussion of “close and effective” supervision. 
17 See Consent Decree section II.A. 
18 Consent Decree section XIV sets out the requirements regarding Performance Evaluations. 
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comply with various Consent Decree obligations — it is quite inefficient to have 
multiple days when 1‐2 additional officers are available to perform patrol work, 
but they are not performing patrol work. NOPD should consider identifying 
meaningful tasks members of the Executive Protection team can perform while 
the Mayor is out of town to contribute to the Department’s well‐publicized 
efforts to combat its lack of personnel. 

• Legal Conflicts. The City Attorney provides “legal advice to the Mayor, the City
Council, and other city offices, departments, and boards,” including the
NOPD.19 While this joint representation normally creates no conflict, when the
Mayor is or may be a material witness in a PIB investigation, the risk of a real or
perceived conflict is significant. Indeed, this occurred in the Vappie
investigation when the City Attorney visited PIB to monitor the second
interview of Officer Vappie. Situations like this can create the perception that
City Hall is attempting to intimidate interviewees or investigators, or otherwise
interfere in a PIB investigation. Such perception may be avoided when the
Mayor is or may be a witness by (i) the imposition of a formal wall to block the
exchange of information between the Mayor’s office/City Attorney’s Office and
PIB and (ii) engaging outside counsel to support PIB throughout the
investigation. The Office of the Independent Police Monitor made this
suggestion in a thoughtful public letter to the City Council on February 9,
2023. The Monitoring Team agrees with the IPM’s concerns. NOPD should
consider engaging outside counsel to advise PIB on matters when the City
Attorney’s representation of the City, Mayor’s Office, and PIB could create a
real or apparent conflict of interest.

• Reassignment Of Officers Under Investigation. We understand, pursuant to
Policy 13.1, the Superintendent has the discretion to administratively reassign
officers during certain PIB investigations. In this case, Officer Vappie had been
moved out of the Executive Protection detail pending the PIB investigation,
which was a sensible decision considering the nature of the allegations, the
public profile of the investigation, and the likelihood that the Mayor would be a
material witness in the investigation. Outgoing Superintendent Ferguson,
however, hours before his retirement, inexplicably directed the return of
Officer Vappie to the Mayor’s security detail. While this order, fortunately, was
reversed by a deputy chief and the City Attorney, the order itself created at the
very least the appearance of interference in a PIB investigation. NOPD should
consider revising its policy to prohibit officers reassigned due to a PIB
investigation from being assigned back to their previous units until the

19 See www.nola.gov/city-attorney. 
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conclusion of the PIB investigation without the express approval of the PIB 
Deputy Chief. 

• PIB Investigators. During the course of the PIB investigation, the two
investigators assigned to the Vappie investigation were moved out of PIB. The
lead investigator, Lawrence Jones, was promoted to lieutenant and moved to a
district patrol unit. The PIB Captain, Kendrick Allen, was assigned to command
a district. Without at all suggesting these two promotions were not warranted,
NOPD should have considered detailing both individuals back to PIB until the
completion of the Vappie investigation. While Superintendent Woodfork
assured the Monitoring Team both officers would be given adequate time to
complete their investigation, as a practical matter, this is difficult to accomplish
in practice. PIB readily concedes it lacks adequate personnel to perform
aspects of its investigations in the best of times (e.g., reviewing videos and
documents). Adding a full time job to Allen’s and Jones’s schedules on top of
their PIB jobs virtually guaranteed both jobs would be compromised to some
extent. NOPD should consider adopting a policy of detailing promoted officers
back to PIB for limited timeframes when necessary to complete significant
pending investigations.

• Initial Investigation Letters. At the outset of the investigation, PIB alerted
Officer Vappie it had opened an administrative investigation initiated by a
public complaint. The letter advised Officer Vappie that PIB would focus on an
alleged violation of the 16.58 hour rule as well as other matters. PIB was aware
at that time, however, of several other potential violations by Officer Vappie as
a result of the Fox 8 coverage, including potential violations of NOPD’s
professionalism, conflict, and time charging rules. While PIB represented to the
Monitoring Team that the general “other matters” language was all that was
required to put Officer Vappie on notice of the allegations against him, the
limited wording of the initial letter created avoidable problems during the
Vappie interview. NOPD should consider the pros and cons of including a
more complete description of the conduct under investigation in its initial
letters to investigation subjects.

The Monitoring Team believes these recommendations are critical to ensure 
compliance with the Consent Decree and to ensure the sustainability of the many 
reforms NOPD has made over the years. While we are aware that the NOPD has taken 
steps to implement some of these recommendations, PIB has not yet responded to 
our February 2023 letter outlining these recommendations so we are not in a position 
to opine on the meaningfulness of NOPD’s corrective actions at this time. 
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IV. Conclusion

The Vappie investigation was a stressful one for PIB. The City Council made clear it 
would be reviewing the matter closely. The media made clear they would be 
reviewing the matter closely. And the Monitoring Team and the IPM made clear they 
would be reviewing the matter closely. Notwithstanding the stress likely caused by so 
much oversight, PIB undertook its investigation professionally and with integrity. 
While the Monitoring Team takes issue with some aspects of the investigation report, 
as noted in this Report, overall, we find that PIB did a good job with the underlying 
investigation. Investigators Allen and Jones took the matter seriously, comported 
themselves professionally, and showed no signs of being influenced by outside 
pressures. We commend PIB for its investigative work. We are hopeful, however, that 
the opportunities for improvement outlined in this Report will be taken seriously by 
PIB and NOPD and will be implemented promptly.  

To that end, pursuant to Consent Decree paragraph 454, the NOPD Superintendent 
now must determine whether or not to order the recommendations set out in this 
Report. Should the Superintendent decide not to order the Monitoring Team’s 
recommendations, she must “set out the reasons for this determination in writing.” 

As always, the Monitoring Team will make itself available to discuss any element of 
this Report or the remedial measures NOPD plans to take in response thereto. 
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